FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matters of
Commission on Hope, Growth &
Opportunity

)
)
)
)

MUR 6391 &MUR 6471

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF
VICE CHAIRMAN STEVEN T. WALTHER
I.

Introduction

Two administrative complaints were filed against the Commission on Hope, Growth &
Opportunity ("CHGO"), a District of Columbia non-profit association formed on March 31, 2010
and organized under section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code. The first complaint
("DCCC Complaint") was filed on October 7, 2010, by the Democratic Congressional Campaign
Committee ("DCCC") and is referenced as Matter Under Review ("MUR") 6391.' The second
complaint ("CREW Complaint") was filed on May 23, 2011, and amended ("CREW Amended
Complaint") on April 26, 2012 by Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington
("CREW") and its former Executive Director, Melanie Sloan, and is referenced as MUR 6471.^
The complaints alleged that CHGO violated the Federal Election Campaign Act ("FECA" or the
"Act") by (1) failing to properly report its spending on election-related communications,
(2) failing to include proper disclaimers on them, and (3) failing to organize, register and report
as a political committee.
DCCC alleged that CHGO violated the Act by spending over $600,000 in the 2010
elections to air several advertisements that were either independent expenditures or
electioneering communications, and that CHGO failed to report the advertisements and failed to
include proper disclaimers.
CREW alleged that CHGO violated the Act by spending over $2.3 million in the 2010
elections to broadcast fifteen advertisements in twelve Congressional races, and that the
' DCCC's FEC complaint is available at http;//eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/l 5044380002.pdf.
^ The CREW Complaint and the CREW Amended Complaint are available at
http://eqs.tec.gOv/eqsdocsMUR/15044380186.pdf and http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/15044380263.pdf.
' See 52 U.S.C. § 30102 ("Organization of political committees"), 52 U.S.C. § 30103 ("Registration of political
committees") and 52 U.S.C. § 30104 ("Reporting requirements").
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advertisements were either independent expenditures or electioneering communications that
CHGO failed to report and failed to include proper disclaimers. CREW further alleged that
CHGO's extensive election-related spending, along with the lack of any significant non-electoral
activity, indicated that CHGO may have violated the FECA by failing to organize, register, and
report as a political committee in 2010.
In response to the complaints, CHGO denied the allegations, asserting that the
advertisements did not constitute express advocacy, that it did not engage in electoral politics at
the federal level, and that its public communications were specifically issue-oriented. According
to CHGO, its sole purpose was to educate the public on matters of economic policy formulation,
and therefore it was not a political committee. CHGO further stated that none of its
communications was targeted at any specific electoral constituency, that any error in disclosing
electioneering communications was made in good faith, and that the policy behind disclosure
was satisfied by the disclaimer CHGO attached to each advertisement, as well as by the
information made available by broadcasters as required by the Federal Communications
Commission ("FCC").
On September 16, 2014, the Commission unanimously found reason to believe ("RTB")
in these matters that CHGO violated the Act by failing to report several advertisements that it
had disseminated in 2010 as electioneering communications or independent expenditures.
However, the Commission deadlocked twice - on September 16, 2014and October 1,2015-on
the central issue of whether there was reason to believe CHGO had achieved political committee
status.^ As a political committee, CHGO would have been required to register with the
Commission and file disclosure reports that would have publicized all of its contributions and
disbursements in a timely manner.
On October 1, 2015, the Commission voted again on the political committee status issue.
Three Commissioners, Commissioner Ravel, Commissioner Weintraub and I, voted to find RTB
that CHGO may have violated the Act by failing to report and register as a political committee
and failing to file reports as a political committee. Following the second and fateful deadlock,
the Commission voted, as a matter of common practice, to close the file.®
On November 6, 2015, Commissioners Matthew S. Petersen, Caroline C. Hunter and Lee
E. Goodman, jointly issued their "Statement of Reasons" ("Controlling Group SOR") stating
why they voted in each instance in these matters against the recommendations of the Office of
General Counsel ("OGC") to find reason to believe on the political committee status issue, which
^ CHGO's responses to the complaints are available at http://eqs.fec.gov/eqs/searcheqs?SUBMlT=continue.
' See Amended Certification in MUR 6391 and 6471, dated Sept. 16, 2014, available at
http://eqs.fec.gOv/eqsdocsMUR/15044380338.pdf, and Certification in MUR 6391 and 6471, dated Oct. 1, 2015,
available at http://eqs.fec.gOv/eqsdocsMUR/15044380400.pdf. 1 voted in each of those instances, along with
Commissioners Ann M. Ravel and Ellen L. Weintraub, to find reason to believe that CHGO may have violated the
Act's political committee status provisions.
®5ee Certification in MUR 6391 and 6471, dated Oct. 1,2015. The vote to close the file was approved by five
Commissioners; 1 dissented.
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effectively prevented the Commission from further pursuing CHGO for failing to organize,
register and report as a political committee.'
On November 23, 2015, CREW, one of the two administrative complainants, exercised
its statutory right to file suit in U.S. District Court pursuant to section 30109(a)(8) of the Act,
alleging that the Commission's dismissal by the Commission of that matter was "contrary to
law."* CREW currently seeks a court order declaring that the Commission's dismissal of
MUR 6471 was contrary to law, and requiring the Commission to conform with such
declaration,® which, if granted, would allow the Commission to complete the enforcement
process. Notwithstanding my disagreement with the content of the Controlling Group SOR, 1
voted, consistent with Commission tradition and practice, to authorize OGC to defend the
Commission in this suit.'°
See Controlling Group SOR in MURs 6391 and 6471 by Vice Chairman Matthew S. Petersen and Commissioners
Caroline C. Hunter and Lee E. Goodman, dated Nov. 6,20IS, available at
http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/IS04438l2S3.pdf. In this matter, where one of the complainants that initiated the
MUR, CREW, has filed suit in U.S. District Court pursuant to S2 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8), the Controlling Group is
required to provide a "statement of their reasons" for voting against OGC's recommendation. See Democratic
Cong. Campaign Comm. v. FEC, 831 F.2d 1131, 1132 (D.C. Cir. 1987); FEC v. Nat 7 Republican Senatorial
Comm., 966 F. 2d 1471, 1476 (D.C. Cir. 1992) ("[W]hen the Commission deadlocks 3-3 and so dismisses a
complaint, that complaint, like any other, is judicially reviewable under Section 437g(a)(8).... [T]o make judicial
review a meaningful exercise, the three Commissioners who voted to dismiss must provide a statement of their
reasons for so voting. Since those Commissioners constitute a controlling group for purposes of the decision, their
rationale necessarily states the agency's reasons for acting as it did."); Common Cause v. FEC, 655 F. Supp. 619
(D.D.C. 1986), rev'don other grounds, 842 F.2d 436 (D.C. Cir. 1988). On March 3, 2016 Commissioner Goodman
issued a "Supplemental Statement of Commissioner Lee E. Goodman". In that document. Commissioner Goodman
expresses dissatisfaction with what he believes were unclear and inconsistent tests or analyses by OGC on the
political committee status issue. However, as seen from OGC's reports, it is clear that OGC was attempting to cover
all bases - not just its own view - given the disparity between the Controlling Group and Commissioners Ravel,
Weintraub and me on what is required to make a finding of RTB on political committee status. In view of the
unwillingness of the Controlling Group to adhere to the analysis we supported, OGC stated in GCR #3 that "under
any analysis," the "major purpose" test was clearly satisfied.
* See CREW v. FEC, Case No. 15-2038 (D.D.C. filed Nov. 23, 2015). CREW's district court complaint is available
at http://www.fec.gov/law/litigation/crewl52038_complaint.pdf. Section 30109(a)(8)(C) states that; "In any
proceeding under this paragraph the court may declare that the dismissal of the complaint or the failure to act is
contrary to law, and may direct the Commission to conform with such declaration within 30 days, failing which the
complainant may bring, in the name of such complainant, a civil action to remedy the violation involved in the
original complaint" (emphasis added). The complainant in MUR 6391, DCCC, chose not to exercise its statutory
right to file suit in district court against the Commission under 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8)(C).

" The following explanatory footnote was included as footnote I of the FEC's Answer to the Complaint, dated
February 12, 2016, available at http://www.fec.gov/law/litigation/crew_l52038.shtml:
This litigation is commenced against the Federal Election Commission (Commission) on
the grounds that the Commission did not approve a recommendation of the Commission's
Office of General Counsel (OGC) to find "reason to believe" (RTB) that a violation of
the FECA or of its regulations occurred in this case and that the file was consequently
closed. 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8) (formerly 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8)). The reason for the
inaction of the Commission is because there were not four or more Commissioners' votes
to proceed on the RTB recommendation. Courts have held that, in order to properly
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I am issuing this Statement of Reasons to express why I believe the court should (a)
declare that the Controlling Group's rationale for not finding RTB is arbitrary and capricious and
therefore "contrary to law," and (b) "direct the Commission to conform with such declaration." "
11.

The Controlling Group's Rationale For Not Finding Reason to Believe Is Contrary
to Law

The Controlling Group's rationale for not finding reason to believe is contrary to law, and
the court should rule accordingly, as discussed below.
The basis of the Controlling Group's refusal to vote to find reason to believe that CHGO may
have achieved political committee status can be summed up in the following statements in the
Controlling Group's SOR:
• "The information available at the time [of OGC's pre-investigation recommendations to
the Commission on December 27,2013] did not support a finding of reason to believe
that CHGO had failed to organize, register, and report as a political committee."'^
• "The information learned during this period [OGC's Commission-authorized
investigation in 2014 and 2015] did not definitively resolve whether there was reason to
believe CHGO was a political committee and raised novel legal issues that the
Commission had no briefing or time to decide."
review the inaction of the Commission, the court must be supplied with a "statement of
reasons" of those Commissioners who voted against, or abstained from voting for, the
OGC recommendation, who the court has called the "controlling group." See Democratic
Cong. Campaign Comm. v. FEC, 831 F.2d 1131, 1132 (D.C. Cir. 1987); FEC v. Naf!
Republican Senatorial Comm., 966 F. 2d 1471, 1476 (D.C. Cir. 1992) ("[W]hen the
Commission deadlocks 3-3 and so dismisses a complaint, that complaint, like any other,
is judicially reviewable under Section [30109(a)(8)].... [T]o make judicial review a
meaningful e.xercise, the three Commissioners who voted to dismiss must provide a
statement of their reasons for so voting. Since those Commissioners constitute a
controlling group for purposes of the decision, their rationale necessarily states the
agency's reasons for acting as it did."); Common Cause v. FEC, 655 F. Supp. 619
(D.D.C. 19S6), rev'd on other grounds, S42F.2d 436 {D.C. C\t. 1988). The Commission
has historically voted by a majority vote (pursuant to 52 U.S.C. §§ 30106(c) and
30107(a)(6) (formerly 2 U.S.C. §§ 437c(c) and 437d(a)(6))) to authorize the OGC's
appearance on behalf of the Commission in suits commenced pursuant to 52 U.S.C.
30109(a)(8) (formerly 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8)). Accordingly, the views ofthe
Commissioners who voted to pursue enforcement are not defended by the OGC, although
their statements of reasons are part of the administrative record and available for the
Court's consideration. Furthermore, the OGC's representational role in this matter does
not change OGC's recommendation to find RTB or any of the reasons supporting it,
which are part of the administrative record.
" See fn. 8, supra {quotingfrom Act).
Controlling Group SOR at 3 (portion in brackets added for clarification).
Controlling Group SOR at 4 (portion in brackets added for clarification).
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The information that was learned during that investigation indicated "that CHGO no
longer existed and that the statute of limitations effectively foreclosed further
enforcement efforts

Id. As discussed below, three public documents are attached to this statement to assist the discussion of the
salient issues:
Attachment A, which is publicly available at https://assets.documentcloud.org/documents/326131/1024-commisionon-hope-growth-and-opportunity.pdf, is an August 16, 2010 letter from the IRS approving CHGO's application for
tax-exempt status, which also includes (a) CHGO's "Application for Recognition of Exemption Under Section
501(a)" ("IRS Application"), which was signed by CHGO counsel William B. Canfield ("Canfield") on March 31,
2010, and (b) CHGO's Articles of Association, which were signed by CHGO's President and Executive Director
Steve Powell and CHGO counsel Canfield on March 31,2010. In response to the question on the IRS Application
"Has the organization spent or does it plan to spend any money attempting to influence the selection, nomination,,
election, or appointment of any person to any Federal, state, or local public office or to an office in a political
organization?" (emphasis added), CHGO counsel Canfield answered "No."
Attachment B, which is publicly available at http://www.guidestar.Org/FinDocuments//2010/271/920/2010271920168-07d71 ldl-90.pdf, (and attached as Exhibit C to CREW's Amended Complaint) is CHGO's tax return
for 2010 (IRS Form 990). That document, as discussed later, shows that CHGO spent over $4.7 million during the
2010 calendar year. The tax return was executed by CHGO counsel Canfield on November 14,2011. In response to
question "Did the organization engage in direct or indirect political campaign activities on behalf of or in opposition
to candidates for public office?" (during the 2010 calendar year), CHGO counsel Canfield answered "No." The tax
return further shows that Canfield received compensation of $50,000 in 2010.
Attachment C, which is publicly available at http://www.guidestar.org/FinDocuments/2011/271/920/2011271920168-08862c6f-9O.pdf, is CHGO's tax return for 2011 (IRS Form 990). That document, as discussed later,
shows that CHGO paid out S31,000 for compensation, legal and other fees, designates its status as "terminated," and
states that "no assets are remaining for this entity." The tax return was executed on May 4, 2012 by J. Stephen
Powell as CHGO's President/Executive Director. This return containing a notice of termination was dated just
18 days after Michael H. Mihaike (who apparently was responsible for billing and invoicing CHGO's
advertisements) sent an email to CFIGO treasurer James D. Warring and CHGO counsel Canfield expressing
concerns about possible FEC involvement, suggesting that CHGO be terminated "most quickly" because "[tjhere is
an outstanding matter at the Federal Elections [sic] Commission and my sense is that we ought to shut it down to
make things less complicated moving forward." See footnote 33.
Attachment D is a portion of the subpoena response of Michael H. Mihaike, in which CHGO states, as discussed
later, that its goal was "[t]o make an impact using express advocacy in targeted Senate races on key issues including
financial reform, energy, taxes, pharmaceuticals, health care and other key concerns," and identifies certain states as
"potential targets."
These documents, along with other information discussed in this statement, conclusively show that CHGO was
active for nine (9) months, from March 31 through December 31,2010, during which it spent over $4 million on
express advocacy expenditures and electioneering communications. These uncontroverted facts demonstrate a clear
electoral purpose and stand in stark contrast to Mr. Canfield's statement in CHGO's 2010 IRS Application that
CHGO had not spent, and did not plan to spend, "any money" to influence elections.
As to the issue of CHGO's assets, a filing with the IRS is only that, and investigations often show that such filings
are not always accurate; further, if CHGO had filed with the Commission as a political committee, those filings
could have revealed with much more certainty the extent of CHGO's receipts and final disbursements, and to what
extent any assets may still exist.
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Not only was there sufficient information supporting reason to believe findings when
OGC presented its initial recommendations to the Commission on December 27, 2013, the
investigation conducted by OGC during 2014 and 2015 confirmed that information and
uncovered overwhelming additional facts (discussed by OGC in subsequent reports) which,
considered together, demonstrated that there was reason to believe CHGO is a political
committee under the Act.
A. First General Counsel's Report (December 27,2013)
On December 27, 2013, OGC submitted its First General Counsel Report ("GCR #1") to
the Commission for its consideration; however, consideration was delayed and it was not
discussed in executive session until July 22, 2014, and ultimately not voted on in executive
session until September 16, 2014.'^ GCR #1 recommended that the Commission find reason to
believe CHGO may have violated the Act (a) by failing to properly report its independent
expenditures and electioneering communications, and (b) by failing to include proper disclaimers
on its advertisements.'® In addition, GCR #1 recommended that the Commission find reason to
believe CHGO may have violated the Act (a) by failing to organize and register as a "political
committee," and as a consequence, additionally, (b) by failing to file with the PEC the disclosure
reports required of a political committee." I approved OGC's recommendations shortly after
GCR #1 was submitted to the Commission; however, the matter was not placed on an executive
session and discussed until several months later, on July 22, 2014, and was not voted on by the
Commission until September 16, 2014.
OGC based its political committee status recommendations on a wealth of undisputed
evidence that did not persuade the Controlling Group. Because the Commission had not yet
authorized OGC to conduct an investigation, which procedurally can only happen after a finding
of RTB, the Commission was limited to the information in the two original complaints and one
amended complaint and on the specificity of the denials in CHGO's responses, along with
certain publicly available information. Still, even with those limitations, the facts as disclosed in
GCR #1 in support of OGC's recommendations were compelling:
• CHGO's Form 990 for 2010 filed with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") {see
Attachment B), which was provided in CREW's amended complaint, showed that CHGO
spent over $4.5 million on "media placement" and "media production" during the 2010
calendar year, out of total spending of over $4.7 million.

" OCR #1 is available at http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/15044380072.pdf.
See 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) ("Statements by other than political committees"), 52 U.S.C. § 30104(f) ("Disclosure of
electioneering communications") and 52 U.S.C. § 30120(a)(3) and (d)(2) ("Identification of funding and authorizing
sources" and "Communications by others").
" Specifically, GCR #1 recommended that the Commission find reason to believe that CHGO failed to organize,
register, and report as a political committee as required, respectively, by 52 U.S.C. § 30102 ("Organization of
political committees"), 52 U.S.C. § 30103 ("Registration of political committees") and 52 U.S.C. § 30104
("Reporting requirements").
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• Although exact figures were unavailable at the time, based only on the advertisements
identified in the complaints and responses, it appeared that there was reason to believe
that CHGO may have spent over $1.7 million on television advertisements that contained
express advocacy alone (not including the additional amount that it appears that CHGO
spent on electioneering communications).
• The information suggested (a) that CHGO spent over $530,000 on non-express advocacy
advertisements that clearly supported or opposed a clearly identified candidate, and
(b) that the advertisements were run in the respective candidates' districts within
approximately six weeks of the 2010 general election.

_
5

Because the available facts established - and remain uncontroverted to this date - that
over $2.2 million was spent on advertisements identified in both complaints and one amended
complaint ($1.7 million of express advocacy and $530,000 in non-express advocacy
communications); and since, in light of CHGO's overall spending of $4.77 million in 2010 and
the fact that its JRS disclosures revealed over $4.5 million on "media placement" and "media
production," OGC concluded that there was reason to believe that CHGO's "major purpose" may
have been conducting federal campaign activity.'* Indeed, given that there was no other
information about how CHGO spent the $4.5 million, it was reasonable to infer at the time that
far more than $2.2 million was spent on the advertisements at issue.
As to whether CHGO's spending on the identified advertisements comprised a majority
of its spending, in my view - which view is consistent with the Commission's policy as
enunciated in its 2007 Supplemental Explanation and Justification on Political Committee Status
("2007 E&J")'® - the facts clearly supported an initial finding that there was reason to believe
that CHGO may have achieved political committee status. From the outset it has been the
Commission's interpretation of the law that a majority of express advocacy communications is
. not required in order to find RTB that an organization's major purpose is the nomination or
election of federal candidates; in fact, the Commission stated in the 2007 E&J - which is still in
effect - that it would evaluate "[ejach organization's full range of campaign activities."^" As
OGC stated in GCR #1:
" The Act and Commission regulations define a "political committee" as "any committee, club, association or other
group of persons which receives contributions aggregating in excess of SI,000 during a calendar year or which
makes expenditures aggregating in excess of $1,000 during a calendar year." 52 U.S.C. § 30101(4)(A); 11 C.F.R.
§ 100.5. In Buckley v. Vateo, 424 U.S. 1 (1976), the Supreme Court ruled that defining political committee status
"only in terms of the annual amount of'contributions' and 'expenditures'" may be overbroad, as it would reach
groups "engaged purely in issue discussion." Id. at 79. The Court therefore concluded that the term "political
committee" "need only encompass organizations that are under the control of a candidate or the major purpose of
which is the nomination or election of a candidate." Id. (emphasis added). Accordingly, under the relevant
provisions of the Act as construed by the Supreme Court, an organization that is not controlled by a candidate must
register as a political committee only if(l) it satisfies the $1,000 threshold and (2) it has as its "major purpose" the
nomination or election of one or more federal candidates.
See 2007 Supplemental Explanation and Justification on Political Committee Status, 72 Fed. Reg. 5595 (Feb. 7,
2007) ("2007 E&J"), available at http://sers.fec.gov/fosers/showpdf.htm?docid=347892007.
See 2007 E&J at 5596-97.
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[A]lthough it is unclear at this stage whether the amount CHGO spent on federal
campaign activity exceeds 50% of its budget, that fact is not dispositive. See
supra at 25 and note 16; see also Human Life of Washington, Inc. v. Brumsickle,
624 F.3d 990, 1009 (9th Cir. 2010), cert, denied, 131 S. Ct. 1477 (2011)
("Nothing in Buckley suggests ... that disclosure requirements are constitutional
only when applied" to "organizations whose single major purpose was political
advocacy") (emphasis added). And that consideration is particularly compelling
here, at the initial stage of the enforcement process, where the Commission would
seek merely to obtain a full record and would not be finding a violation of the Act
on the facts before it. See Statement of Policy Regarding Commission Action in
Matters at the Initial Stage of the Enforcement Process, 72 Fed. Reg. 12,545
(Mar. 16, 2007) ("[Rjeason to believe findings indicate only that the Commission
has found sufficient legal justification to open an investigation to determine
whether a violation of the Act has occurred."). Accordingly, in light of the nature
of the substantial spending for which the Commission currently has information,
there is reason to believe that CHGO's major purpose in 2010 was federal
campaign activity (i.e., the nomination or election of a federal candidate).^'
On September 16, 2014, the Commission met in executive session and voted on the
reason to believe recommendations in GCR #1." The Commissioners unanimously voted to find
reason to believe that CHGO may have failed to file the required reports disclosing the
communications identified in the complaints as required by the Act;" however, the political
committee status recommendations in GCR # 1 failed to garner the necessary four votes. Three
Commissioners (Commissioners Ann M. Ravel and Ellen L. Weintraub and I) voted to approve
the political committee status recommendations, while the Controlling Group voted against
them. The Controlling Group states in its SOR that, among other things, it "was not prepared to
extrapolate the breakdown of CHGO's total spending ($4.7 million) based on the $2.2 million
subset of spending alleged in the complaint." ^
Despite the Commission's failure to find RTB regarding the central allegation, the
unanimous approval of an RTB finding regarding CHGO's failure to file the required reports
disclosing its communications at least provided OGC with the authority to commence an

" GCR#1 at 38-39.
^ The Commission meets regularly in closed session to discuss and vote on pending enforcement actions, litigation
and other matters that, by law, are kept confidential. See http://www.fec.gOv/agenda/agendas.shtml#executive.
These are usually referred to as "Executive Sessions."
" See Certification in MUR 6391 & MUR 6471 (CHGO), dated September 16, 2014, available at
http://eqs.fec.gOv/eqsdocsMUR/15044380338.pdf. The certification stated that CHGO "violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104
(formerly 2 U.S.C. § 434) by failing to report the communications at issue in the report."
Controlling Group SOR at fn. 13. As mentioned elsewhere, more extrapolation by OGC followed, although 1 do
not think further additional facts or extrapolation were necessary in order to find RTB on the political committee
status issue on September 16,2014.
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investigation to obtain additional facts regarding that issue?^ Assuming OGC could confirm the
amounts at issue and obtain more information about CHGO's spending - whether that
information was inculpatory or exculpatory - the Commission would have been well situated to
make appropriate findings in advance of the impending statute of limitations, which was
projected by OGC to start expiring in late September 2015.
Although, as discussed below, OGC compiled additional facts that far surpassed the low
"reason to believe" threshold and presented uncontroverted facts to the Commission in sufficient
time to potentially conciliate with CHGO, it was still not enough to convince the Controlling
Group.
B. Second General Counsers Report (July 28,201S)
On July 28, 2015, after conducting a limited investigation in accordance with the
reporting RTB finding previously approved by the Commission, OGC submitted its Second
General Counsel's Report ("GCR #2") for the Commission's consideration.^® Although, as
previously mentioned, the low RTB threshold regarding political committee status, in my
opinion, had been satisfied several months earlier when OGC made its initial political committee
status recommendations in GCR #1 circulated December 27, 2013, the subsequent investigation
confirmed what could already be inferred by the information in GCR #1, i.e., that nearly all of
CHGO's spending - $4.59 million out of a total of $4.77 million (96 %) as reported on its 2010
Form 990 filed with the IRS - was related to the advertisements identified in the complaints.
Although OGC's investigation was confined to the reporting RTB finding (and not the
political committee status issue), the documents OGC gathered in connection with that RTB
finding included statements that were highly relevant to CHGO's "major purpose" by shedding
some light on the group's true goals and objectives:"
• CHGO stated in a planning document [see Attachment D) that its goal was "[t]o make an
impact using express advocacy in targeted Senate races on key issues including financial
reform, energy, taxes, pharmaceuticals, health care and other key concerns."^* The
planning document even identified twelve states as "potential targets.""
See Amended Certification in MUR 6391 and 6471 (CHGO), dated Sept. 16,2014, availabte ai
http://eqs.fec.gOv/eqsdocsMUR/15044380338.pdf.
GCR #2 is available at http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/15044380353.pdf.
" The Commission stated in its 2007 E&J that, in determining an entity's major purpose, it considers a group's
"overall conduct," including public statements about its mission, organizational documents, government filings (e.g.,
IRS notices), the proportion of spending related to "federal campaign activity," and the extent to which fundraising
solicitations indicate that funds raised will be used to support or oppose specific candidates. 2077 E&J at 5597,
5605. As can be seen, the percentage of express advocacy spending is only one factor of many in considering the
existence of "major purpose" and nowhere is it hinted that express advocacy must be a majority of a group's total
spending.
GCR #2 at 12 (emphasis added).
''Id.
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•

A September 15, 2010 letter to a potential donor from Wayne Berman, who was
identified as a CHGO "consultant" by key witness Michael Mihaike (who was
responsible for billing and invoicing CHGO's advertisements), described CHGO as "an
• organization which focuses on running independent expenditure campaigns in key
districts to support the election of Republican candidates," and further assured the donor
that contributions to CHGO would not be disclosed, thereby hiding the names of donors
from the electorate.^"

In its follow-up investigation, OGC obtained no documents that supported CHGO's claim
in its response to the complaints that its purpose was solely to educate the public on matters of
economic policy formulation.
It is worth noting that OGC encountered a number of obstacles in the post-RTB period
that severely hampered its investigation of CHGO, caused in no small part by CHGO's failure to
abide by the law (as well as its failure to adhere to timely notices provided to it by OGC that
cautioned CHGO's counsel to follow the law) to preserve records related to the complaints as
required by law. These legal requirements were included in complaint notification letters from
the Commission as early as 2010.^' OGC provided the following disturbing information in its
July 28, 2015 report to the Commission:
The investigative record suggests that CHGO lacked a records retention policy,
did not appear to otherwise attempt to retain records, and did not direct any of its
vendors to retain records, despite notice from the Commission of the obligation to
preserve relevant documents. None of the witnesses identified any records
retention policy in place at CHGO or Meridian [its primary vendor for media
placement and production] during the time CHGO conducted the activities at
issue. Canfield [i.e., CHGO counsel William B. Canfield III] Subpoena Resp.
at 2; Powell [i.e., CHGO President/Executive Director James S. Powell]
Subpoena Resp. at 6; Response of Michael H. Mihaike to Order to Submit
Answers to Questions and Subpoena to Produce Documents at 5 (June 26, 2015)
("Mihaike Subpoena Resp."). Additionally, all of the relevant witnesses stated
that they either did not receive notice or did not recall receiving notice to retain
records relating to CHGO in light of the Commission's open matter. Response of
James D. Warring [i.e., CHGO treasurer and founder of Warring & Company,
LLC, the firm responsible for CHGO's accounting and tax filings] to Order to
Submit Answers to Questions and Subpoena to Produce Documents at 8 (June 29,
2015) ("Warring Subpoena Resp."); Powell Subpoena Resp. at 6; Mihaike

''Id.
" The Commission's complaint notification letters to counsel stated:
Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records and materials relating to the
subject matter of the complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in
this matter. See 18 U.S.C. § IS19.
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Subpoena Resp. at 5. To the contrary, in response to the subpoenas Warring and
Cedillo [i.e., Susi Cedillo, employee of Warring & Company, LLC] produced an
April 16, 2012 e-mail from Mihalke to Warring and Canfield suggesting that
CHGO be terminated "most quickly," because "[tjhere is an outstanding matter at
the Federal Elections [sic] Commission and my sense is that we ought to shut it
down to make things less complicated moving forward." Warring Subpoena
Resp. at FEC-481; Response of Susi Cedillo to Order to Submit Answers to
Questions and Subpoena to Produce Documents (July 6, 2015) ("Cedillo
Subpoena Resp.") at FEC-219?^
In spite of these fact-finding challenges, OGC was successful in presenting the
Commission with much stronger factual support that there was reason to believe that CHGO is a
political committee. Accordingly, GCR #2 renewed OGC's previous recommendations, stating
that
"since each ofCHGO's advertisements was either an express-advocacy
independent expenditure or electioneering communication, both of which
are indicative of major purpose, we conclude that 96% of CHGO's
spending in 2010 involved federal campaign activity."^^
GCR #2 also recommended that the Commission immediately authorize pre-probable
conciliation with CHGO, given that the statute of limitations was to begin expiring in two
months.
However, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Controlling Group contended OGC still had
not obtained enough evidence to satisfy their arbitrary threshold for political committee status by
definitively categorizing which disbursements were for express advocacy independent
expenditures versus non-express advocacy electioneering communications. As the Controlling
Group stated in its SOR:
It was . ... our expectation that OGC's investigation would provide a more
thorough accounting ofCHGO's spending, including its spending on each
communication, and whether there were other communications not known to the
Commission that CHGO had financed.^"
However, the investigation had not developed any more information detailing
CHGO's spending on specific communications.^^

OCR #2 at fn. 20 (portion in brackets added for clarification). This is perhaps the reason why the IRS termination
was filed as well, which unfortunately was used by the Controlling Group as a reason to not vote for RTB findings
on the political committee status issue.
" GCR #2 at 10.
" Controlling Group SOR at 3.
" Controlling Group SOR at 3-4.
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In each instance where the Controlling Group criticized the sufficiency of the evidence,
OGC conducted further investigation in an attempt to satisfy their concerns. Although not
necessary, in an effort to obtain yet more precise details about CHGO's spending on the
advertisements at issue, OGC undertook additional investigative steps following an August 11,
2015 executive session discussion.^® As discussed below, however, although OGC diligently
pursued other potential leads and returned to the Commission the next month, on September 24,
2015, with a detailed breakdown of CHGO's spending, the additional copious evidence did not
persuade the Controlling Group that the low reason to believe standard had been satisfied.
C. Third General Counsel's Report (September 24,2015)
On September 24, 2015, OGC submitted its Third General Counsel's Report ("GCR #3")
for Commission consideration.^' OGC described the investigative efforts it had undertaken since
the August 11 executive session, such as seeking political files from 144 television stations in
broadcast areas utilized by CHGO, and obtaining documents from and interviewing
representatives of previously unknown CHGO subvendors. Based on these new leads and other
investigatory steps, OGC was able to provide the Commissioners with an even more
comprehensive and detailed breakdown of CHGO's spending.
In GCR #3, OGC focused primarily on the portion of CHGO's spending that comprised
express advocacy communications, stating that:
Though the Commission has not limited its consideration to spending on express
advocacy communications when determining whether a group's spending
indicates a major purpose of federal campaign activity, CHGO qualifies as a
political committee even if the Commission were to consider the entity's spending
on independent expenditures alone. As explained [on page 14 of GCR #3],
CHGO spent $2,933,631.34 on the production and placement of express advocacy
advertisements. Using only this amount, it appears that CHGO's express
advocacy spending amounted to 61% of its confirmed total of $4,801,000 that it
spent over the entire course of its organizational lifetime.^®
OGC also calculated that CHGO's combined spending on express advocacy and
electioneering communications amounted to 85% of its total spending in 2010,^' but since the
Controlling Group - in departure of formal Commission policy as enunciated in its 2007 E&J had historically refused to include electioneering communication disbursements in assessing a
" I supported a short delay during this period in order to permit OGC to pursue additional leads in its investigation.
" GCR #3 is available at http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/15044381224.pdf.
GCR #3 at 18-19 (emphasis added, footnotes omitted, portion in brackets added). OGC e.xplained in a footnote
that, to establish that CHGO's major purpose was to influence federal elections "under any analysis" of the test, it
used the $4,801,000 that CHGO spent during 2010 and 2011, the duration of the group's spending history, instead of
the $4.77 million it spent only in 2010. GCR #3 at fti. 2. OGC notes that "[t]he minimal spending undertaken in
2011 does not materially change the proportion of CHGO's spending on independent expenditures." Id.
GCR #3 at 18.
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group's major purpose,^® this higher figure was of little practical significance in terms of
attracting the necessary four votes for finding reason to believe.
On September 29, 2015, just five days after OGC submitted OCR #3 to the Commission,
OGC provided the Commission with a memorandum accompanied by a detailed spreadsheet
containing all available cost information and an explanation of the methodology it used to
allocate production and placement costs. This information was made available to the
Commissioners at the next executive session considering the matter, which was on October 1,
2015. Despite this level of additional detail elicited in that short period, and even though the
uncontroverted facts easily satisfied the reason to believe threshold - which I believe was
satisfied at the initial stage of the enforcement process through GCR #1 - the Controlling Group
ultimately rejected OGC's analysis that express advocacy communications constituted 61% of
CHGO's spending. The Controlling Group simply stated that it was not "persuaded by OGC's
calculations that 61% of CHGO's spending was devoted to communications that expressly
advocated the election or defeat of a federal candidate.""'
The matters came before the Commission on October 1, 2015 for a vote. Commissioners
Ravel, Weintraub, and I voted to find RTB on the political committee status issue, and the
Controlling Group voted against, leaving the Commission deadlocked on that issue. Instead of
relying on alternative spending calculations or a competing analysis of the content of the
advertisements,"^ the Controlling Group focused on the fact that the statute of limitations was
fast approaching, the fact that CHGO had filed termination documents with the IRS in 2011, and
the fact that CHGO "had no money" or "people acting on its behalf.""' Accordingly, the
Controlling Group viewed closing the file as the Commission's "most prudent course" and once
again voted against finding RTB that CHGO violated the Act's political committee provisions,
leaving the Commission with little choice but to close the file.""
D. The Failure to Find Reason to Believe Was Contrary to Law
A court may not disturb the dismissal of a Commission enforcement matter unless that
dismissal was "contrary to law.""' Courts have construed this phrase to reflect the standard that
See, e.g.. Statement of Reasons of Chairman Lee E. Goodman and Commissioners Caroline C. Hunter and
Matthew S. Petersen, MUR 6538 (Americans for Job Security), available at
http;//eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/I4044361962.pdf; Statement of Reasons of Chairman Lee E. Goodman and
Commissioners Caroline C. Hunter and Matthew S. Petersen, MUR 6589 (American Action Network), available at
http://eqs.fec.gOv/eqsdocsMUR/14044362004.pdf.
Controlling Group SCR at fn. 16.
Throughout the pendency of this case, the Controlling Group has never challenged OGC's characterization of the
advertisements, i.e., which ones constitute electioneering communications and which ones were express advocacy
independent expenditures.
•" Controlling Group SOR at 4.
Id. I voted against closing the file.
See fn. 8, supra (quoting from Act).
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normally governs judicial review of administrative decisions; i.e., a Commission dismissal may
be overturned only if it was "arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of discretion," or rests on an
"impermissible interpretation of the Act."^® Although the "arbitrary and capricious" standard of
review is a deferential one that presumes an agency's action to be valid, a court is not required
"to accept 'meekly administrative pronouncements clearly at variance with established facts.'"^'
As I have expressed in my previous statements of reasons in enforcement matters,"** the
standard of proof as to whether or not to find reason to believe is very low; if it were otherwise,
the Commission could open an investigation only on rare occasions. The Commission only has
civil (i.e.,.non-criminal) jurisdiction, but the standard for finding reason to believe is lower than
other standards of proof in civil matters, including "preponderance of the evidence," and "clear
and convincing evidence." The Commission is merely required to find that there is reason to
believe a violation may have occurred before moving forward to the next stage of the matter, i.e.,
usually initiating an investigation and/or engaging in conciliation.
It should be noted that the language was unanimously approved by the Commission in its
publicly available "Guidebook for Complainants and Respondents on the FEC Enforcement
Process," which provides formal guidance to complainants and respondents in enforcement
matters."*® The Commission in 2009 and 2012 voted - unanimously - to provide the following
explanation of a reason to believe finding:
The Act requires that the Commission find "reason to believe that a person has
committed, or is about to commit, a violation" of the Act as a precondition to opening
an investigation into the alleged violation. 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2) [now 52 U.S.C.
§ 30109(a)(2)]. A "reason to believe" finding is not a finding that the respondent violated
the Act, but instead simply means that the Commission believes a violation may have
occurred."^^
As OGC concluded in GCR #3, under any analysis, the Commission should have found
reason to believe that CHGO may have violated the Act by failing to organize, register, and
La Bon V. FEC, 889 F.Supp.2d 51, 59-60 (D.D.C. 2012), quoting Hagelin v. FEC, 411 F.3d 237, 242 (D.C. Cir.
2005). See also Orloski v. FEC, 795 F.2d 156, 161 (D.C. Cir. 1986).
.4nlosh V. FEC. 599 F. Supp. 850 (D.D.C. 1984), citing Environmental Defense Fund v. Costle, 657 F.2d 275, 283
(D.C. Cir. 1981).
See, e.g., MUR 6396 (Crossroads GPS) Supplemental SOR by Commissioner Steven T. Walther, dated Dec. 30,
2014, available at http:/^qs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/l4044364941.pdf: MUR 6570 (Berman for Congress, et al.)
Supplemental SOR by Commissioner Steven T. Walther, dated Jan. 4,2013, available at
http;//eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMURy 13044324639.pdf.
See MUR 6396 (Crossroads GPS) Supplemental SOR at 9-10.
See "Guidebook for Complainants and Respondents on the FEC Enforcement Process" ("Guidebook") at 12
(emphasis added), available at http://www.fec.gov/em/respondent_guide.pdf. The Guidebook was unanimously
approved by the Commission on Dec. 17, 2009; an updated edition was unanimously approved on May 10, 2012.
See Minutes of FEC Dec. 17, 2009 Open Meeting, available at http://www.fec.gov/agenda/2010/mlgdocl002.pdf;
Minutes of FEC May 10, 2012 Open Meeting, available at http://www.fec.gov/agenda/2012/mtgdoc_1237.pdf.
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report as a political committee.^' Regarding the examination of CHGO's "major purpose," it
was arbitrary and capricious - and therefore contrary to law - for the Controlling Group to
consider and rely upon, for purposes of determining whether to find reason to believe, only an
organization's spending on express advocacy in relation to its other spending. The Commission
itself has never limited a major purpose to express advocacy communications; indeed, such a
narrow focus would effectively eviscerate the statutory test for political committee status, which
is triggered when a group receives "contributions" or makes "expenditures" aggregating in
excess of $1,000 during a calendar year - since the Commission has consistently interpreted the
term "expenditures" to include communications that contain "express advocacy."" The
Commission's view that the required major purpose test is not limited solely to communications
that contain express advocacy (or its functional equivalent) has been upheld by every court that
has reviewed the Commission's case-by-case approach in its 2007 E&J.^^
OGC went far beyond the call of duty in this case (and what is legally required) by
ultimately determining, as part of its investigation of the apparent reporting violation (for which
the Controlling Group voted along with the three other Commissioners to authorize an
investigation), the precise level of express advocacy spending in proportion to CHGO's total
spending. OGC calculated in GCR #3 that CHGO's express advocacy spending amounted to a
staggering 61% of its $4.8 million in total spending.
The Controlling Group's conclusory dismissal - without explanation - of OGC's express
advocacy spending calculation easily meets the "arbitrary and capricious" standard of review.
Further, it is not a reasonable justification to vote against finding reason to believe by pointing to
factors such as the statute of limitations and the respondent's financial condition, particularly
considering that the Controlling Group voted against OGC's reason to believe recommendations
more than a year earlier. Although time was running short when the Controlling Group voted
against OGC's political committee status recommendations the second time, it was premature to
assume - as the Controlling Group appears to have done - that the Commission's enforcement
options were completely foreclosed. For example, if the court were to reject the Controlling
" As noted above, OGC stated in GCR #3 that CHGO spent $2,933,631.34 on the production and placement of
express advocacy advertisements, which amounted to 61% of its confirmed total of $4,801,000 that it spent over the
entire course of its organizational lifetime. OGC further stated that:
We have determined that, under any analysis, CHGO's expenditures reflect that express advocacy
was a major purpose of the group - even when resolving any doubts regarding the purpose of the
unused funds in favor of CHGO. For instance, if we were to remove from both the express
advocacy expenditures and the total expenditures calculations of the amounts of the unused
CHGO funds that, according to Mihalke, Reed distributed to Berman and himself to cover
fundraising costs, it appears that CHGO's express advocacy spending amounted to 76% of its total
of $3,864,906 that it spent over the course of its organizational lifetime.
GCR #3 at 19 (emphasis added).
" See 52 U.S.C. §§ 30101(4)(A) and (17)(A).
" See Free Speech v. FEC, 720 F.3d 788,798 (10th Cir. 2013), cert, denied, 134 S.Ct. 2288 (May 19, 2014); Real
Truth About Abortion. Inc. v. FEC, 681 F.3d 544, 556 (4th Cir. 2012), cert, denied, 133 S.Ct. 841 (2013); Shays v.
FEC,5\l F. Supp. 2d 19, 29-31 (D.D.C. 2007).
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